IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF CALIFORNIA

JEREMIAH SMITH, Plaintiff and Appellant, Supreme Court No. S260391

v.

Court of Appeal No. E069752

LOANME, INC., Defendant and Appellee.

Superior Court No. RIC1612501

APPEAL FROM THE SUPERIOR COURT OF RIVERSIDE COUNTY

Honorable Douglas P. Miller Honorable Michael J. Raphael Honorable Frank J. Menetrez

APPELLANT'S OPENING BRIEF ON THE MERITS

After the Published Decision of the Fourth Appellate District, Second Division, County of Riverside.

Todd M. Friedman (216752) tfriedman@toddflaw.com Adrian R. Bacon (280332) abacon@toddflaw.com Thomas E. Wheeler (SBN 308789) twheeler@toddflaw.com

LAW OFFICES OF TODD M. FRIEDMAN, P.C.

ISSUES PRESENTED

- I. Whether the Court of Appeal erred in determining that California Penal Code § 632.7 authorizes the secret recording of any telephone call that involves one or more cordless or cellular telephones, so long as the recording is made by someone who is a party to the call rather than by a third-party eavesdropper.
- II. Whether the Court of Appeal erred in determining that California Penal Code § 632.7 clearly and unambiguously applies to third party eavesdroppers only, and not to parties to a call who receive and record the communications of another party without the knowledge or consent of that party.

Additionally, from Respondent's Answer to the Petition for Review:

III. For purposes of consent under Penal Code Section 632.7 does a party to a phone call consent to the call being recorded when he stays on the line after the other party causes a beep tone (or series of beep tones) to sound during the call?

INTRODUCTION

This case is about telephone privacy. Since 1967, California has been an all-party consent state, meaning that it is generally illegal to record a telephone call without the consent of everyone who is a party to the call. The prohibition of non-consensual telephone recording, as well as other aspects of electronic privacy, are codified in the California Invasion of Privacy Act, Penal Code § 630 *et seq.* ("CIPA"). In enacting the CIPA, the California Legislature determined that an all-party consent regime is necessary "to protect the right of privacy of the people of this state." Penal Code § 632. In 1974, voters further enshrined this right through the addition of the right to privacy in the California Constitution, Article 1, Section 1.

This Court has consistently applied the CIPA in a manner that furthers telephone privacy. In Ribas v. Clark (1985) 38 Cal.3d 355, this Court held that the CIPA's prohibition on non-consensual monitoring applies not only to interception while a telephone communication is in transit, but also to monitoring on an extension phone. In Flanagan v. Flanagan (2002) 27 Cal.4th 766, this Court explained that § 632 protects from non-consensual recording any telephone call that a participant does not intend to be overheard or recorded (whether or not the content of the call is intended to remain secret) and that § 632.7 protects against intercepting or recording "any communication" involving a cellular phone or cordless phone. Flanagan, supra, 27 Cal.4th at 776. In Kearney v. Salomon Smith Barney, Inc. (2006) 39 Cal.4th 95, this Court affirmed the all-party consent requirement and held that it applies to out-of-state businesses that engage in telephone communications with California customers. Recording a telephone call without the consent of any party has been held to be "an affront to human dignity." Friddle v. Epstein (1993) 16 Cal. App. 4th 1649, 1660-61.

Consistent with this, "the Legislature found that 'the advent of widespread use of cellular radio telephone technology means that persons will be conversing over a network which cannot guarantee privacy in the same way that it is guaranteed over landline systems." Flanagan, supra, 27 Cal.4th at 775. The California Supreme Court addressed application of section 632.7 by holding that it was enacted in response "to the problem of protecting the privacy of parties to calls involving cellular or cordless telephones" and made unlawful "the intentional interception or recording of a communication involving a cellular phone or a cordless phone." Id. at 776 (emphasis added). Section 632.7 "protect[s] against interception or recording of any communication." Id. at 776 (italics in original). Thus, while together sections 632 and 632.7, "protect[] against intentional, nonconsensual recording of telephone conversations regardless of the content of the conversation or the type of telephone involved" (Id. at p. 776), for landline communications, section 632 imposes the added requirement that the plaintiff establish "an objectively reasonable expectation that the conversation is not being overheard or recorded." *Id.* at This statutory background, described by the Supreme Court, is incredibly important because it frames why the Legislature enacted § 632.7. This Court was concerned that cellular phones and cordless phones would be determined by courts to be so insecure (due to eavesdropping) that there could be no reasonable expectation of privacy, and hence, § 632 would not prohibit recording such calls, since the statute required confidentiality, i.e. a reasonable expectation of privacy. Section 632.7 closed this foreseeable loophole. And, as further explained below, many federal district courts in California have held that § 632.7 protects against the non-consensual recording of telephone calls transmitted in whole or in part between cellular and/or cordless telephones.

Despite the statutory language, the legislative history of the CIPA, and judicial precedent, the Court of Appeal below held that § 632.7 applies only to third party eavesdroppers and that it does not apply to anyone who is a party to the call. The practical result of this ruling is to authorize the secret recording of any telephone call in which any party happens to be using a cell phone or a cordless phone. The ruling effectively turns California into a one-party consent state with respect to the recordation of cell phone and cordless phone calls.

If left to stand, the Court of Appeal's decision will have a devastating impact on the privacy rights of every Californian that have been in place and well understood for decades. As this Court has noted, consumers in California are accustomed to being informed at the outset of a call whenever a business entity intends to record the call. *Kearney*, *supra*, 39 Cal.4th at 118. The decision of the Court of Appeal decimates the legal foundation upon which that expectation is based, and is relevant to every California resident, as it affects the privacy rights of every person who use cellular or cordless telephones. Not only is the Appellate Order legally unsound, but it is also contrary to the clear policy underlying the Invasion of Privacy Act, and should therefore be reversed.

STATEMENT OF CASE AND FACTS

I. Procedural Background of Trial Court Proceedings

Smith filed his Class Action Complaint against LoanMe on September 26, 2016, alleging violations of Cal. Penal Code § 632.7 on behalf of himself and a putative class. Clerk's Transcript on Appeal, Vol. I ("CTA"), at 001. The parties jointly stipulated to and the Court ordered a bifurcated bench trial on a legal issue that ultimately is not relevant to this Appeal – whether beep tones constitute a sufficient notice advisory to a reasonable consumer that the call is being recorded. *Id.* at 015. The parties briefed the issue and appeared for a bifurcated bench trial on October 13,

2017. *Id.* at 026. The Court ruled in favor of LoanMe and entered Judgment against Plaintiff on November 21, 2017. *Id.* at 018 & 092. On January 2, 2018, Smith timely filed his Notice of Appeal from Judgment. *Id.* at 105. Following the Appellate Order, Smith timely filed his Petition for Review in the Supreme Court of California, which was granted on April 1, 2020.¹

II. Statement of Facts

The parties stipulated and agreed on all facts for the bifurcated trial and appeal. CTA at 072-75. LoanMe is a lender that offers personal and small business loans to qualified customers. *Id.* at 073. Smith's wife is the borrower on a loan made to her by LoanMe. *Id.* In October 2015, LoanMe called the telephone number provided to it by Smith's wife to discuss her loan. *Id.* Smith answered the phone and informed LoanMe that his wife was not home, after which the call ended. *Id.* The call lasted approximately 18 seconds. *Id.* LoanMe recorded the call. *Id.*

Approximately 3 seconds into the call, LoanMe caused a "beep tone" to sound. *Id.* A "beep tone" is played on outbound calls made by LoanMe at regular intervals every 15 seconds. *Id.* LoanMe did not orally advise Smith that the call was being recorded, and Smith did not sign any contract with LoanMe granting consent to record calls with him. *Id.* For purposes of the bifurcated bench trial and appeal, LoanMe accepts that the recorded call was placed to a cordless telephone. *Id.*

LoanMe contends that causing beep tones to sound at regular intervals during a phone call puts people on notice that the call is being recorded, and that, as a matter of law, people who continue the conversation

¹ Due to the COVID19 crisis causing the closure of the Fourth Appellate District, Appellant was unable to obtain a copy of the Record on Appeal for the proceedings that occurred at the appellate level that were electronically transmitted to This Court. Thus, for these documents, Appellant will refer to them by document title and page number.

after a beep tone (or series of tones) have consented to the call being recorded. *Id.* Smith alleges that the use of beep tones, in the manner beep tones were used by LoanMe as demonstrated during the recorded phone call at issue, without more, are insufficient notice that the call is being recorded. *Id.* This was the sole issue on which the parties requested review by the Court of Appeal. There were no other disputes of law or fact raised by the parties. *LoanMe did not argue that § 632.7 did not apply to it as a party to the call.*

III. The Court of Appeal Invokes Government Code § 68081

For reasons that are unclear, after the legal issues surrounding beep tones had been fully briefed before the Court of Appeal, the Court issued a short Order requesting further briefing on a completely unrelated question: "should Penal Code § 632.7 be interpreted as applying only to the recording of a wireless communication that was 'hacked' or 'pirated' by someone who was not a party to the communication?" Order Pursuant To Gov. C. § 68081 (June 25, 2019) at p. 1. Appellant was given only five pages of briefing on this issue.

IV. The Court of Appeal Order Guts the Invasion of Privacy Act

It is well established that with the passage of the California Invasion of Privacy Act (§ 630 et seq.) in 1967, California became a two-party consent state, which means that all parties to a telephone call must consent before their conversation can be recorded. As stated by this Court,

[¶]The California Invasion of Privacy Act (§ 630 et seq.) was enacted in 1967, replacing prior laws that permitted the recording of telephone conversations with the consent of one party to the conversation. [Citation omitted.] The purpose of the act was to protect the right of privacy by, among other things, requiring that all parties consent to a recording of their conversation. (Flanagan, supra, 27 Cal.4th at 768-769.)

In *Flanagan*, this Court addressed application of § 632.7 by holding that § 632.7 was enacted in response "to the problem of protecting the privacy of parties to calls involving cellular or cordless telephones" and made unlawful "the intentional interception or recording of a communication involving a cellular phone or a cordless phone." *Id.* at 776. *Flanagan* further held that section 632.7 "protect[s] against interception or recording of *any* communication." *Id.* (italics in the original.)² The Appellate Court does not discuss this holding in *Flanagan*.³

_

² Specifically, this Court in *Flanagan* held,

[&]quot;Responding to the problem of protecting the privacy of parties to calls involving cellular or cordless telephones, the Legislature prohibited the malicious interception of calls from or to cellular or cordless phones (§§ 632.5, 632.6) and the intentional interception or recording of a communication involving a cellular phone or a cordless phone (§ 632.7)." (emphasis added)

^[¶] Significantly, those statutes protect against interception or recording of any communication. When the Legislature determined that there was no practical means of protecting cordless and cellular phone conversations from accidental eavesdropping, it chose to protect all such conversations from malicious or intentional eavesdropping or recording, rather than protecting only conversations where a party wanted to keep the content secret. The scope of this prohibition indicates, as we suggested in *Ribas*, supra, 38 Cal.3d at pages 360-361, that the Legislature's ongoing concern is with eavesdropping or recording of conversations, not later dissemination." (*Flanagan*, supra, 27 Cal.4th at 776 (italics in the original).

³ Importantly, The Appellate Court's conclusion that

[&]quot;[S]ection 632.7 prohibits only third party eavesdroppers from intentionally recording telephonic communications involving at least one cellular or cordless telephone. Conversely, section 632.7 does not prohibit the participants in a phone call from intentionally recording it,"

Court of Appeal's Opinion ("Slip. Op.") at p. 3 [43 Cal.App.5th at 848], is contrary to *Flanagan*. Under the Appellate Court's interpretation of § 632.7, any call made by Smith to LoanMe - or any call made to anyone, for that matter - could be recorded by the recipient (LoanMe) because the dialer (Smith) necessarily consented to the other party "receiving" the call.

Thus, § 632.7 prohibits the secret recording of telephone calls that occur on a cell phone or cordless landline phone.⁴ Or rather, it did until the Court of Appeal unexpectedly issued an unprompted ruling that § 632.7 applied only to eavesdroppers and not to parties to the call. The Court's Order analyzes a single legal question relating generally to the Invasion of Privacy Act: does § 632.7 apply to the surreptitious recording of a telephone call by a participant in the phone call, or instead does it apply *only* to the recording of a communication by an undisclosed third-party eavesdropper? Slip Op. at p. 3.⁵ The Court of Appeal ruled that § 632.7 applies only to eavesdroppers, and that parties to a call are free to receive and secretly record communications without the consent of another party to the call without violating the statute.⁶ The ruling acknowledges that the majority of federal courts, in more than a dozen cases, have held otherwise.

The Court of Appeal Order is based on a misreading of the plain language of § 632.7 and the broader CIPA. Rather than starting with the language of § 632.7, the Court of Appeal started by looking at CIPA as a whole and concluding that telephone calls that were confidential were already protected from recording under the circumstances by parties to a call under § 632. Slip Op. at pp. 5-6. The Court went on to look at Penal

_

⁴ Roughly 70% of calls placed to consumers are placed to their cell phones, not landlines. In fact, as of 2017, more than 53% of households in America were wireless only, meaning that they do not have landline service. https://www.textrequest.com/blog/how-many-people-still-use-landline-phone/. In the wake of the Court's ruling, consumers are left vulnerable to surreptitious recordation of their telephone conversations by companies that do not disclose that they are recording the call. This is directly contrary to long-settled appellate jurisprudence holding that such conduct is not only a violation of their privacy rights, but an "afront to human dignity" as well.

⁵ Citations to the Court of Appeal's Opinion in this case are in the form of "Slip Op. at []."

⁶ The Court of Appeal did not address the beep tones issue at all in its Order. The only mention of beep tones in the Court of Appeal's Order is in the recitation of facts.

Code § 632.5 and 632.6, which prohibit the *malicious* interception or receipt of cellular phone or cordless phone communications without consent of the parties. Slip Op. at pp. 6-7. Nothing in the plain language of either of these statues specifies that they inherently apply only to third party eavesdroppers. Nevertheless, the Court read such a requirement into these two statutes due solely to their inclusion of the word "malicious," which is not present in § 632.7. Slip Op. at pp. 7-8. Penal Code § 632.5 and 632.6 were also enacted in legislation in 1992 completely separately from § 632.7 which was enacted in 1993. Finally, the Court looked at the language of § 632.7: "Every person who, without the consent of all parties to a communication, intercepts or receives and intentionally records, or assists in the interception or reception and intentional recordation of, a communication transmitted between two cellular radio telephones, a cellular radio telephone and a landline telephone, two cordless telephones, a cordless telephone and a landline telephone, or a cordless telephone and a cellular radio telephone, shall be punished by" a fine, imprisonment, or Slip Op. at pp. 7-8. Nonetheless, rather than focusing on the language of the statute, the remainder of the Order attempts to frame § 632.7 in the context of §§ 632.5 and 632.6, with the assumption that neither applies to parties to a call and therefore, that § 632.7 must only apply to third parties to a call as well. Slip Op. at pp. 8-11. The conclusion appears to rest solely on the observation that *some* of the same language in § 632.7 also appears in §§ 632.5 and 632.6.

Despite § 632.7 clearly stating that liability is imposed on any person "who, without the consent of all parties to a communication, intercepts or receives and intentionally records" a communication involving a cellular phone or cordless phone, the Court determined as follows:

"The statute thus requires that the interception or receipt of the communication be without the parties' consent. But the parties to a phone call always consent to the receipt of their communications by each other-that is what it means to be a party to the call (or at least that is part of what it means)...Consequently, the parties to a phone call are incapable of violating section 632.7, because they do not intercept or receive each other's communications without all parties' consent."

Slip Op. at p. 9.

The Court of Appeal's error was supported thereafter by a strawman argument, whereby the Court looked at § 632.5 and § 632.6 in its own rewritten context of applying only to eavesdroppers, despite such a restriction being nowhere in § 632.5 or § 632.6, and notwithstanding the only reason the Court of Appeal reached such a conclusion was due to the presence of the word "malicious" in § 632.5 and § 632.6. Slip Op. at p. 9. Yet the word "malicious" does not appear in § 632.7, so the same logic does not apply. The Appellate Court went on to conclude that the only way to harmonize the three statutes was to rule also that § 632.7 only applied to third parties. *Id.* The Appellate Court appears to have conducted the analysis backward, looking at the conclusion and determining how best to reach it, rather than starting with the plain language of the statute and looking elsewhere only if necessary to resolve ambiguity. The only justification offered for having taken that backwards method of statutory interpretation was the Appellate Court's statement: "it is not clear what it would mean for one party to receive the other party's communications with malice." Slip Op. at p. 10. The Appellate Court's attempt to square the inconsistency of its statutory interpretation with Kearney strains credulity when compared with this Court's interpretation of consent under § 632:

"Although parties to a phone call always consent to each other's receipt of their communications, they do not always consent to the use of an electronic amplifying or recording device to eavesdrop upon or record the communication. It is consequently unsurprising that section 632 can apply to the

parties to a communication. (Kearney, supra, 39 Cal.4th at pp. $117-118.)^7$

Slip Op. at fn. 5.8 This Court's interpretation of consent in *Kearney* as applied § 632 would naturally lead to the conclusion that § 632.7 applies to a party to the communication. The Court of Appeal was unpersuaded by Kearney's logic, and instead held without adequate justification that under § 632.7, consent is only required for someone who was not a party to the communication.

The Court goes on to ignore the reasoning of more than a dozen published federal decisions that have analyzed these questions thoroughly and persuasively from multiple angles and have come to a contrary conclusion. The Appellate Court fails to note that of the fourteen cases it cites, thirteen explicitly reject its holding. Id. at 847, n. 2 (citing Brinkley v. Monterey Fin. Svcs. (S.D. Cal. 2018) 340 F. Supp. 3d 1036, 1043 (agreeing that "a party to a call who records part of the conversation without the other party's consent violates § 632.7"); Ades v. Omni Hotels Management Corp. (C.D. Cal. 2014) 46 F. Supp. 3d 999, 1017-1018 ("§ 632.7 should not be limited to situations in which unknown third parties record a

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