### No. S260391

### IN THE SUPREME COURT OF CALIFORNIA

### JEREMIAH SMITH, Plaintiff and Appellant,

v.

LOANME, INC., Defendant and Respondent.

After a Decision by the Court of Appeal

Fourth Appellate District, Division Two (Case No. E069752)

On Appeal from the Riverside County Superior Court

(Case No. RIC1612501; Hon. Sharon J. Waters)

#### **RESPONDENT'S ANSWERING BRIEF ON THE MERITS**

Michael R. Williams, SBN 196863 mwilliams@ftrlfirm.com Jared M. Toffer, SBN 223139 jtoffer@ftrlfirm.com FINLAYSON TOFFER ROOSEVELT & LILLY LLP 15615 Alton Parkway, Suite 250 Irvine, California 92618 Telephone: (949) 759-3810

Attorneys for Defendant and Respondent LoanMe, Inc.

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

#### ARGUMENT

#### A. Analytical Framework for Statutory Interpretation.

This case involves a question of statutory interpretation, which this Court reviews independently. *See Cal. Bldg. Indus. Ass'n v. State Water Res. Control Bd.*, 4 Cal. 5th 1032, 1041 (2018). The analytical framework for statutory interpretation is well-established. In interpreting a statute, this Court's "fundamental task ... is to determine the Legislature's intent so as to effectuate the law's purpose." *Meza v. Portfolio Recovery Assocs., LLC*, 6 Cal. 5th 844, 856 (2019) (quotations omitted). This Court "first examine[s] the statutory language, giving it a plain and commonsense meaning." *Id.* (quotations omitted). This Court "do[es] not examine that language in isolation, but in the context of the statutory framework as a whole in order to determine its scope and purpose and to harmonize the various parts of the enactment." *Id.* (quotations omitted).

"If the language is clear, courts must generally follow its plain meaning unless a literal interpretation would result in absurd consequences the Legislature did not intend." *Id.* (quotations omitted). "If the statutory language permits more than one reasonable interpretation, courts may consider other aids, such as the statute's purpose, legislative history, and public policy." *Id.* (quotations omitted). "Furthermore, [this Court] consider[s] portions of a statute in the context of the entire statute and the statutory scheme of which it is a part, giving significance to every word, phrase, sentence, and part of an act in pursuance of the legislative purpose." *Id.* at 856-57 (quotations omitted). "Statutory interpretations that lead to absurd results or render words surplusage are to be avoided." *Tuolumne Jobs & Small Bus. Alliance v. Superior Ct.*, 59 Cal. 4th 1029, 1037 (2014) (quotations omitted).

## B. CIPA and the Cordless and Cellular Radio Telephone Privacy Act of 1985.

In 1967, the Legislature enacted CIPA. One of the provisions of the original 1967 legislation was Penal Code section 632, which provides, in relevant part: "A person who, intentionally and without the consent of all parties to a confidential communication, uses an electronic amplifying or recording device to eavesdrop upon or record the confidential communication, whether the communication is carried on among the parties in the presence of one another or by means of a telegraph, telephone, or other device, except a radio, shall be punished by" a fine, imprisonment, or both. Cal. Penal Code § 632(a). For purposes of the statute, "person" includes businesses. *Id.* § 632(b).

In addition to section 632's creation of criminal liability, Penal Code section 637.2, which also was part of the original CIPA legislation, subjects persons who violate CIPA to civil liability. For example, section 637.2 provides, in relevant part: "Any person who has been injured by a violation of this chapter may bring an action

against the person who committed the violation for the greater of the following amounts: (1) Five thousand dollars (\$5,000) per violation. (2) Three times the amount of actual damages, if any, sustained by the plaintiff." Cal. Penal Code § 637.2(a).

Nearly 20 years later, in 1985, the Legislature enacted section 632.5 as part of the Cellular Radio Telephone Privacy Act of 1985 (a subpart of CIPA). *Smith*, 43 Cal. App. 5th at 850. Section 632.5 provides, in relevant part: "Every person who, maliciously and without the consent of all parties to the communication, intercepts, receives, or assists in intercepting or receiving a communication transmitted between cellular radio telephones or between any cellular radio telephone and a landline telephone shall be punished by" a fine, imprisonment, or both. Cal. Penal Code § 632.5(a).<sup>1</sup>

In 1990, the Legislature amended the 1985 legislation, renaming it the Cordless and Cellular Radio Telephone Privacy Act of 1985. *Smith*, 43 Cal. App. 5th at 850. The amendment added section 632.6, which provides, in relevant part: "Every person who, maliciously and without the consent of all parties to the communication, intercepts, receives, or assists in intercepting or receiving a communication transmitted between cordless telephones ..., between any cordless telephone and a landline telephone, or between a cordless telephone and a cellular telephone shall be

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> A "cellular radio telephone" is defined as a wireless telephone authorized "to operate in the frequency bandwidth reserved for cellular radio telephones." Cal. Penal Code § 632.5(c).

punished by" a fine, imprisonment, or both. Cal. Penal Code § 632.6(a).<sup>2</sup>

In 1992, the Legislature amended the Cordless and Cellular Radio Telephone Privacy Act of 1985 to add section 632.7. *Smith*, 43 Cal. App. 5th at 850. Section 632.7 provides, in relevant part: "Every person who, without the consent of all parties to a communication, intercepts or receives and intentionally records, or assists in the interception or reception and intentional recordation of, a communication transmitted between two cellular radio telephones, a cellular radio telephone and a landline telephone, two cordless telephones, a cordless telephone and a landline telephone, or a cordless telephone and a cellular radio telephone, shall be punished by" a fine, imprisonment, or both. Cal. Penal Code § 632.7(a).

To summarize, Penal Code sections 632.5, 632.6, and 632.7 are all part of the Cordless and Cellular Radio Telephone Privacy Act of 1985. *Smith*, 43 Cal. App. 5th at 851. Section 632.5 prohibits the malicious and nonconsensual interception or receipt of cellular phone calls. Section 632.6 prohibits the malicious and nonconsensual interception or receipt of cordless phone calls. Section 632.7 prohibits the non-malicious, nonconsensual interception or receipt and intentional recording of cordless and cellular phone calls. Unlike

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> A "cordless telephone" is defined as a "communication system consisting of two parts-a 'base' unit which connects to the public switched telephone network and a handset or 'remote' unit-which are connected by a radio link and authorized ... to operate in the frequency bandwidths reserved for cordless telephones." Cal. Penal Code § 632.6(c).

section 632, sections 632.5, 632.6, and 632.7 do not require that the communication be "confidential."

#### C. The Proper Interpretation of Section 632.7.

Other than the Opinion, there are no California appellate-level cases that interpret Penal Code section 632.7 (or sections 632.5 or 632.6). *Smith*, 43 Cal. App. 5th at 851.

"California prohibits the recording of a telephone call without consent from all parties, but only if the call includes a 'confidential communication." *Flanagan v. Flanagan*, 27 Cal. 4th 766, 768 (2002) (citing Cal. Penal Code § 632(a). There is no dispute that Penal Code section 632 applies to the intentional recording of a confidential telephone communication by the parties to the telephone communication.

The question presented in this case is whether Penal Code section 632.7 likewise applies to the intentional recording of both confidential and non-confidential telephone communications by the parties to the telephone communications when at least one of the parties uses a cordless or cellular phone? The language of section 632.7, in the context of the Cordless and Cellular Radio Telephone Privacy Act of 1985 (and CIPA) as a whole, shows that it does not. In addition, a contrary interpretation would lead to absurd results.<sup>3</sup>

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> The reasoning in this section was developed in large part from the decisions in *Smith*, 43 Cal. App. 5th 844; *Burkley v. Nine West Holdings Inc.*, No. BC641730, 2017 WL 4479316 (Cal. Super. Los Angeles County Sept. 5, 2017); and *Granina v. Eddie Bauer LLC*, No. BC569111, 2015 WL 9855304 (Cal. Super. Los Angeles County Dec. 2, 2015).

#### 1. The Word "Receives"

In order for Penal Code section 632.7 to apply, a person must first be found to have intercepted or received—or to have assisted in the interception or reception of—a telephone communication. The terms intercept and receive are not defined in the statute.

The first definition of the word "intercept" in the online Miriam-Webster dictionary is "stop, seize, or interrupt in progress or course or before arrival." Using the plain meaning of the word "intercept," the parties to a telephone communication do not intercept the communication under section 632.7 because they do not stop, seize, or interrupt the communication.

The first definition of the word "receive" in the online Miriam-Webster dictionary is "to come into possession of." Using just this definition, it is possible to argue that the parties to a telephone communication come into possession of the communication, i.e., they come into possession of the spoken words that were intended for them during the phone conversation. But the word "receives" cannot be examined in isolation. *See Meza*, 6 Cal. 5th at 856. Instead, the word "receives" must be examined in the context of section 632.7 and the Cordless and Cellular Radio Telephone Privacy Act of 1985 as a whole, and it must not be given a meaning that leads to absurd results. *See id*.

When Penal Code section 632.7 was enacted, Penal Code sections 632.5 and 632.6 were already in place. Sections 632.5 and 632.6 both use the phrase "intercepts, receives, or assists in intercepting or receiving a communication" and the word "maliciously." Section 632.7 uses a variation on the phrase

"intercepts, receives, or assists in intercepting or receiving a communication" used in sections 632.5 and 632.6 to grammatically accommodate the additional element of recording the communication. Specifically, section 632.7 uses the language "intercepts or receives and intentionally records, or assists in the interception or reception and intentional recordation of, a communication." Section 632.7 does not use the word "maliciously."

Interpreting the word "receives" to include the parties to a telephone communication under sections 632.5 and 632.6 would lead to absurd results. For example, it is not clear how a person could ever "maliciously" "receive" a telephone communication that was directed to them or that was made by them. In addition, if "receives" includes accepting a cordless or cell phone call to one's own phone, it would seemingly punish "maliciously" answering a call that the answering party knew had been directed to a wrong number. If the Legislature had intended to punish receiving calls made to wrong phone numbers, it would have included communications between two landlines in sections 632.5 and 632.6. But the Legislature did not do so.

Thus, interpreting the word "receives" as used in sections 632.5 and 632.6 to include a party to the telephone communication is an untenable construction. To avoid this issue, the proper interpretation of the word "receives" as used in sections 632.5 and 632.6 is that a person "receives" a telephone communication when they listen in on (as opposed to intercept) a telephone communication that was not intended for them from the airwaves. A person does not "receive" a telephone communication within the meaning of sections 632.5 and

632.6 when the telephone communication is directed to them, or they initiate the communication.

The word "receives" as used in section 632.7 should be given the same meaning. *See People v. Wells*, 12 Cal. 4th 979, 986 (1996) (explaining that this Court presumes the Legislature intended that the same meaning be accorded to similar phrases). That is, a person "receives" a telephone communication when they listen in on (as opposed to intercept) a telephone communication that was not intended for them from the airwaves. A person does not "receive" a telephone communication within the meaning of section 632.7 when the telephone communication is directed to them, or they initiate the communication.

Interpreting the word "receives" as used in section 632.7 to include the parties to a telephone communication would lead to absurd results. For example, the parties' telephone service providers potentially could be liable for violating section 632.7 because they "assisted" the parties in hearing the words that were spoken during the call by providing telephone service to the parties. In addition, a person who picks up a ringing phone when a call comes in from a cordless or cell phone and hands the phone to the person to whom the call was made would be understood to "assist in" receiving a communication within the meaning of sections 632.7.

There is at least one additional problem with interpreting sections 632.5, 632.6, and 632.7 as applying to parties. These statutes apply only if at least one of the phones used in the call is a cellular or cordless phone. If these statutes apply to the parties to a call, then they would impose liability on the basis of pure happenstance. For

example, in this case, LoanMe called Smith's wife, and Smith allegedly answered the call on a cordless phone. Had Smith answered on a landline phone, section 632.7 could not apply under any interpretation had LoanMe been using a landline too. But because of the happenstance that Smith allegedly answered LoanMe's call on a cordless phone, section 632.7 subjects LoanMe to criminal and civil liability. Once again, the result is absurd.

Interpreting the word "receives" as used in sections 632.5, 632.6, and 632.7 to exclude the parties to a phone communication makes the language of the statutes consistent and clear, harmonizes the entire statutory scheme of the Cordless and Cellular Radio Telephone Privacy Act of 1985 (and CIPA), and avoids absurd results.

#### 2. The "Consent" Element

Even if this Court were to conclude that the word "receives" as used in section 632.7 (and sections 632.5, 632.6) applies to the parties to a telephone communication, the Court should nevertheless conclude that the parties to a telephone communication cannot violate section 632.7 because they always receive the communication with all parties' consent.

As explained above, section 632.7 contains the following language: "Every person who, without the consent of all parties to a communication, intercepts or receives and intentionally records, or assists in the interception or reception and intentional recordation of, a communication ...." Cal. Penal Code § 632.7(a). The phrase "without the consent of all parties," which precedes all verbs in the foregoing sentence, modifies all succeeding verbs (intercepts, receives, and records). The conjunction "or" between "intercepts" and "receives" means the statute applies to any person who engages in either form of conduct without consent. The conjunction "and" means that violation of the statute requires two discrete activities: (a) an interception or receipt, and (b) an intentional recording.

Therefore, to violate section 632.7, a person must both (1) intercept or receive a communication without consent, **and** (2) intentionally record the communication without consent. But the parties to a phone call always consent to the receipt of their communications by each other. For example, in this case, LoanMe consented to Smith's receipt of LoanMe's communications ("Is Mrs. Smith there?"), and Smith consented to LoanMe's receipt of Smith's communications ("No."). Consequently, the parties to a phone call are incapable of violating section 632.7 because they do not receive each other's communications without all parties' consent.<sup>4</sup>

When both parties to the telephone communication consent to the communication but not to recording the communication, the unconsented recording is punishable under Penal Code section 632 if the communication is confidential. Section 632 applies to telephone calls made on landline and cellular telephones. Cal. Penal Code § 632(a) ("by means of a ... telephone"). A contrary interpretation would require the Court to conclude that the Legislature intended to punish unconsented recording of telephone calls in section 632 and in section 632.7, with the sole difference being that section 632.7 does

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup> Such a conclusion also would apply to Penal Code sections 632.5 and 632.6, as they both contain similar consent language. This too would avoid the absurdities that would result from a different interpretation (discussed above).

not require a finding that the communication be one that is confidential. There is no reasoned justification for such an interpretation.

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